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For flexible packaging manufacturers specifically, the primary 
issue for concern in the near term would be the trend of 
plastic resin prices, which forms a substantial part of the 
overall cost, and would thus have a significant impact on the 
overall business profitability. On the basis of the planned new 
production capacities in the Middle East and Asia coming 
on-stream as scheduled, it is envisaged that the current tight 
supply of raw materials would be resolved. This is expected to 
augur well for GW Holdings.

The Group has always upheld a stringent and highly vigilant 
approach in assessing our costs of production. Indeed, the 
Group has made it our utmost priority to keep updated 
on global demand and supply issues that may impact our 
business. Going forward, GW Holdings would leverage on our 
leading position and track record to secure favourable supply 
of raw materials from suppliers to prevent disruption to our 
operations and continue to serve our customers well. 

We are committed to a continuous growth programme in 
order to increase our mix of value-added products as well as 
improve on our productivity and efficiency to maintain our 
growth pace going forward. To this end, we shall carry out the 
following strategies:

(i) To expand our film extrusion capacity
 
 Having invested substantially to enhance our 

capabilities and volume capacity in the blown film 
segment in FY2010, the Group has also expanded our 
cast film capacity with the commissioning of a state-of-
the-art extruder in April 2011. This would enhance the 
Group’s overall effective production capacity to 62.0 
million kg by the second quarter of FY2011, and enable 
us to undertake larger sales orders.

(ii) To enhance our printing capabilities
 
 The Group’s printing capabilities will be enhanced by 

the expected commissioning in June 2011 of a new 
high quality 9-colour gravure printer that is specially 
configured to print on thin polyethylene (PE) films. This 
new printer will complement an existing 8-colour unit 
that is also configured to print on thin PE films.

 The printing of thin PE films on a gravure printer is a 
challenge given the elongation tendencies of such 
films that can adversely affect print registration. In this 
regard, GW Holdings’ specially configured printers allow 
us to offer thin PE films printed products that are not 
normally available from other manufacturers.

(iii) To increase capacity and streamline operations with 
a new factory block

 
 The Group has constructed a new factory block on part 

of our 28 acre land in Rawang, Selangor, to meet the 
increasing demand from existing and new customers. 
This new facility would enable the Group to increase 
production efficiency by streamlining our operations, 
and create a more conducive working environment. 

 The RM9.0 million CAPEX for the new factory block has 
been funded by the Group’s proceeds from the Initial 
Public Offering. 

CONCLUSION

The Group’s financial performance in FY2010 is a reflection of 
the benefits of our drive to increase production capacity and 
a more favourable mix of value-added products. Given the 
success of this model, we will continue to further leverage 
on our existing base and capabilities to take GW Holdings to 
greater heights.

Our successful listing on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad on 18 October 2010 not only capped a 
commendable track record, but more importantly, it marked 
the beginning of a new chapter of growth for the Group. We 
look forward to another momentous year ahead.

LIM KOK BOON
Chief Executive Officer 
Date: 23 May 2011 

Management Review
cont’d
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Directors’ Profile

TAN SRI DATUK DR HAJI OMAR BIN ABDUL RAHMAN

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman, a Malaysian 
aged 78, was appointed as the Independent Non-Executive 
Director and Chairman of GW Plastics Holdings Berhad on 
12 August 2010. He is also the Chairman of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committees and a member of the Audit 
Committee.

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar, a graduate in Veterinary Science 
from the University of Sydney, Australia and a Doctorate in 
Philosophy from Cambridge University, United Kingdom 
began his professional career in 1960 in veterinary research. 
He was one of the founders of Universiti Pertanian Malaysia 
(UPM), serving as the Foundation Dean of Veterinary 
Medicine and Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic). In 1984, 
he was appointed as Science Adviser in the Prime Minister’s 
Department and in that capacity he served on a number of 
national committees including the National Development 
Planning Committee, the National Council for Scientific 
Research and Development, the National Information 
Technology Council and the National Telecommunication 
Council among other notable positions in the areas of science, 
research and policy. He also served as President and a Trustee 
of the Malaysian University of Science and Technology 
(MUST).

On the international scene, Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar served 
on the United Nation’s Council for Science and Technology 
for Development (UNCSTD) and the OIC Standing Committee 
on Science and Technology Cooperation (COMSTECH). He is 
currently a member of United Nations Educational, Scientific 
and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)’s World Commission on 
Ethics of Scientific Knowledge and Technology (COMEST), 
Immediate Past President of the Federation of Asian Scientific 
Academics and Societies (FASAS) and is the founding and 
current Chairman of the Commonwealth Partnership for 
Technology Management (CPTM). He was the Founding 
President of the Academy of Sciences Malaysia and is now a 
Senior Fellow. He is a Founding Fellow of the Islamic World 
Academy of Sciences and a Fellow of the Academy of Sciences 
for the Developing World (TWAS).

He is currently the Chairman of the boards of Great Wall Plastic 
Industries Berhad, Kotra Industries Berhad and Green Packet 
Berhad. He is also a director of OSK Ventures International 
Berhad, BCT Technology Berhad, Sabio Technology Berhad 
and  various other private limited companies.

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar has no family relationship with 
any other Director and/or major shareholder of the Company, 
no conflict of interest with the Company and has had no 
conviction for any offences within the past ten years, other 
than traffic offenses, if any.

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar attended both Board meetings 
held during the financial year since his appointment to the 
Board.
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Directors’ Profile
cont’d

LIM KOK BOON

Lim Kok Boon, a Malaysian aged 53, was appointed as a Non-
Independent Executive Director cum Chief Executive Officer 
of GW Plastics Holdings Berhad on 12 August 2010. He is also 
a member of the Remuneration Committee.
  
He is a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants, United Kingdom and a member 
of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He was with Multi-
Purpose Holdings Berhad (“MPHB”) from 1983 until May 2001 
where he gained wide experience in corporate banking and 
corporate finance work including mergers and acquisitions, 
corporate restructuring, equity/debt financing and capital 
raising, flotation of companies and operational management. 
Prior to his departure from MPHB he was heading the Chief 
Executive Officer’s Department where his responsibilities 
included, inter alia, overseeing the business of Great Wall 
Plastic Industries Berhad (“GW Plastic”) during the period 
October 1996 to May 2001 when MPHB provided management 
services to GW Plastic, then an indirect associate company of 
MPHB.

He was a Director of Eksons Corporation Berhad (“Eksons”) 
from April 1997 to May 2004, with an executive role as Group 
Executive Director during the period May 2001 to March 2002 
and played an instrumental role in the rescue and restructuring 
of Eksons, previously known as Chongai Corporation Berhad, 
which was then financially insolvent.

He is currently also the Chief Executive Officer of  GW Plastic. 
He has served as the Vice President of the Malaysian Plastics 
Manufacturers Association from 2004 to 2006 and was 
President of the Malaysian Plastics Manufacturers Association 
since 2006. He was formerly a Director of Pembangunan 
Sumber Manusia Berhad and is currently a Director of various 
private limited companies. 

Lim Kok Boon has no family relationship with any other 
Director and/or major shareholder of the Company, no conflict 
of interest with the Company and has had no conviction 
for any offences within the past ten years, other than traffic 
offenses, if any.

He attended both Board meetings held during the financial 
year since his appointment to the Board.

YEOH SOO ANN

Yeoh Soo Ann, a Malaysian aged 49, was appointed as a Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director of GW Plastics Holdings 
Berhad on 12 August 2010. He was re-designated  as Executive 
Director on 1 November 2010. He is also a member of the 
Remuneration Committee. 

Mr Yeoh has been a member of the Malaysian Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants and the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants since 1988 and a member of the CPA Australia 
since 2008. 

He has worked in various public accountant firms in the 
United Kingdom and in Malaysia for more than 12 years before 
moving into the commercial sector.

He is currently also the Executive Director of Great Wall Plastic 
Industries Berhad and sit on the boards of various private 
limited companies. He was formerly Executive Director of 
Finance of FACB Industries Incorporated Berhad and Group 
Chief Executive Officer of Encorp Berhad.  

Yeoh Soo Ann has no family relationship with any other 
Director and/or major shareholder of the Company, no conflict 
of interest with the Company and has had no conviction 
for any offences within the past ten years, other than traffic 
offenses, if any.

He attended both Board meetings held during the financial 
year since his appointment to the Board.
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Directors’ Profile
cont’d

DATO’ CHEW KONG SENG

Dato’ Chew Kong Seng, a Malaysian aged 73, was appointed 
as an Independent Non-Executive Director of GW Plastics 
Holdings Berhad on 12 August 2010. He is also the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee and member of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees.

Dato’ Chew is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales as well as a member of 
the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He had worked in 
the United Kingdom from 1964 until 1970 and returned to 
Malaysia to join Messrs Turquand, Young & Co. (now known 
as Ernst & Young). He held various senior positions in Messrs 
Ernst & Young and was Managing Partner from 1990 to 1996. 
He has over 30 years experience in the accounting profession 
covering a wide variety of industries including banking and 
financial institutions, timber, manufacturing, trading and 
foreign investment.

Dato’ Chew also sits on the boards of Petronas Gas Berhad, 
Petronas Dagangan Berhad, AEON Co. (M) Bhd., GuocoLand 
(Malaysia) Berhad, PBA Holdings Berhad, Encorp Berhad, 
Bank of America Malaysia Berhad, Great Wall Plastic Industries 
Berhad and several private limited companies. 

Dato’ Chew has no family relationship with any other Director 
and/or major shareholder of the Company, no conflict of 
interest with the Company and has had no conviction for any 
offences within the past ten years, other than traffic offenses, 
if any.

Dato’ Chew attended both Board meetings held during the 
financial year since his appointment as Director.  

 

ABANG ARIFFIN BIN ABANG BOHAN

Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan, a Malaysian aged 38 was 
appointed as the Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
of GW Plastics Holdings Berhad on 12 August 2010. He is 
also a member of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees.

Abang Ariffin earned his Diploma in Public Administration at 
Institut Teknologi Mara and later pursued law and graduated 
from University of Malaya with LLB (Hons) in 1999. He 
embarked his legal career as a legal assistant at Messrs Ghazi 
& Lim until September 2002.

Prior to incorporating his firm, Messrs AriffinShahzad 
in 2004, he was a partner at Messrs Rafida Razak & Co 
until December 2003. Presently, he is a Partner of Messrs 
AriffinShahzad, Advocates & Solicitors, Kuala Lumpur and 
Messrs AriffinShahzad Advocates, Kuching, Sarawak. He is a 
practising Advocate and Solicitor of the High Court of Malaya 
and the High Court of Sabah and Sarawak.

He was the Secretary of Yayasan Pendidikan Tun Siti Hasmah. 
He sits on the board of Great Wall Plastic Industries Berhad  
and various private limited companies.   

Abang Ariffin has no family relationship with any other 
Director and/or major shareholder of the Company, no 
conflict of interest with the Company and has had no 
conviction for any offences within the past ten years, other 
than traffic offenses, if any.

Abang Ariffin attended both Board meetings held during the 
financial year since his appointment as Director.  
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GW Holdings is mindful of our corporate social obligations. 

Environment

In our commitment to conserve the environment, the Group keeps abreast of the latest technology to be implemented in the  
manufacturing processes to reduce carbon footprint, whilst at the same time producing high quality, downgauged packaging. 
Environmental friendly materials which are FDA approved, non-toluene solvents and non-heavy metallic inks are used in our 
manufacturing processes. We operate in a smoke free environment and adopt waste management programs for the proper 
management and disposal of wastes. A significant portion of our flexible plastic packaging products are also recyclable and 
reusable.

Workplace and Employees

We believe in investing in our employees as they are one of our key resources in maintaining a competitive edge. Our employees 
are sent for regular in-house, on the job and external training courses.

In our efforts to improve the working environment and welfare of our employees, health screening  and training programs involving 
safety and health are conducted on a regular basis. Competitions, inter and intra company games are also organised regularly. 
Hostel facilities are provided for outstation and foreign employees. Cash rewards are awarded to children of employees who excel 
in primary and secondary levels’ public examinations.

The Group has since 2009 implemented the Environment Health and Safety Program. This involves the health and safety training 
programs for our employees as mentioned above, and a monthly recycle day whereby recyclable products are collected and 
disposed to recycling centres. Monies collected from the disposal of recyclable products are channeled towards environmental 
friendly projects undertaken by the Group. 

Community

As part of our social obligations to the community, we organise Blood Donation Campaigns and visits to ten identified welfare and 
children’s homes to bring joy and contributions in cash and kind to the less fortunate.  

Corporate Social Responsibility
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INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of GW Plastics Holdings Berhad (“GW Holdings” or “the Company”) is committed to maintaining 
high standards of corporate governance. The Company’s application and extent of compliance with the Principles and Best 
Practices of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance are set out in this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Responsibility

The Board is collectively responsible for the strategic direction, succession planning, business policies, objectives and financial 
performance of the Group. In ensuring that the Group’s objectives are met, the Board subscribes to the principles of good corporate 
governance and best practices in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities.

Composition of the Board

Since the listing of the Company on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) on 18 October 2010, 
the Board has five (5) members, comprising two (2) Independent Non-Executive Directors (including the Chairman), one (1) Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director  and two (2) Non-Independent Executive Directors. The members of the Board, with their 
diverse expertise and experience in finance, corporate affairs, business, law, science and technology enable them to carry out 
their duties and responsibilities effectively in exercising independent judgement and in their stewardship of the Company and 
the Group.  

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate to ensure that there is a balance of 
power and authority.

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring Board effectiveness and conduct whilst the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the 
Group’s operations and implementation of Board policies, strategies and decisions. The independent directors, who make up one-
third (1/3) of the Board membership, fulfill a pivotal role in corporate accountability and independence in judgement to safeguard 
the interests of minority shareholders.

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman, the Chairman of the Company, is the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director 
to whom concerns may be conveyed.

Board Meetings

The Board intends to meet at least four (4) times a year, with additional meetings to be convened as and when required.

Since the appointment of the current Board members on 12 August 2010 up to 31 December 2010, the Board met twice and the 
attendance of the Directors are as follows:-

Name of Director
No. of Meetings 

Attended Percentage (%)

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman 2/2 100

Mr Lim Kok Boon 2/2 100

Mr Yeoh Soo Ann 2/2 100

Dato’ Chew Kong Seng 2/2 100

Encik Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan 2/2 100

Accordingly, all the Directors have complied with the minimum 50% attendance requirement at Board meetings during the 
financial year as stipulated by the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities.

Supply of Information

All Board members are supplied with information in a timely manner. The agenda and Board Papers are circulated to all Directors 
in advance before each Board meeting to enable Directors to request additional information or seek clarification, where necessary. 
Senior management personnel are invited to attend the Board Meetings, where necessary, to provide additional information on 
the agenda items tabled at Board Meetings.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Corporate Governance Statement
cont’d

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  cont’d

Supply of Information  cont’d

The Directors have direct access to senior management and the advice and services of the Company Secretary. In addition, the 
Directors may also seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, if required.

Directors’ Training

As at 31 January 2011, all Directors of the Company have completed the Mandatory Accreditation Programme (“MAP”) as 
prescribed by Bursa Securities. The Directors are mindful that they require appropriate training programmes from time to time 
to keep them abreast with the latest developments in the industry and the new statutory requirements. Training programmes 
and seminars attended by the directors during the year under review covered topics on corporate governance, corporate social 
responsibility, risk management, finance and business sustainability. Encik Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan had not attended any 
training programmes since the Company’s listing in October 2010 until 31 December 2010. He however completed the MAP in 
January 2011 and has subsequently attended training programmes.
 
Appointments to the Board

The appointments of new Directors is under the purview of the Nomination Committee (“NC”), which is responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board on suitable candidates. Since the  NC was established in August 2010, there were no new nominees 
to the Board.

Re-Election/Re-Appointment  of Directors 

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that one third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being or the number nearest to one 
third shall retire from office at every annual general meeting and be eligible for re-election provided always that all Directors shall 
retire from office once at least every three years but shall be eligible for re-election. Any Director appointed during the year shall 
hold office until the next annual general meeting and shall be eligible for re-election.   

Directors who are over the age of seventy years, are required to seek re-appointment annually at the Annual General Meeting in 
accordance with Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to three (3) committees, namely, the Audit Committee, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees, which operate within clearly defined terms of reference. These Committees have authority to inter 
alia,examine particular issues within their terms of reference and depending on their terms of reference report back to the Board 
with their recommendations.  

Audit Committee

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are set out in the Audit Committee Report.

Nomination Committee

The members comprise the following Directors:-

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman  Chairman, Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’  Chew Kong Seng  Independent Non-Executive Director

Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan  Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

There was no meeting held by the Committee during the year 2010 since its establishment on 12 August 2010. The functions of the 
Committee include recommendations of new nominees to the Board, review and assessment of the contribution of each director.  
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BOARD COMMITTEES  cont’d

Remuneration Committee

The members comprise the following Directors:-

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman  Chairman, Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Lim Kok Boon  Non-Independent Executive Director

Yeoh Soo Ann Non-Independent Executive Director

Dato’ Chew Kong Seng  Independent Non-Executive Director

Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan  Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

The Committee held one meeting in 2010. The functions of the Committee include developing the remuneration policy and 
remuneration packages of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Directors of the Group and recommending to the Board the 
remuneration of the non-executive directors/board committees, for approval.  

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The level of remuneration of Directors is determined so as to enable the Group to attract and retain Directors with the relevant 
experience and expertise needed to manage the group successfully.

All Non-Executive Directors shall receive Directors’ fees from the Company which is subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual 
General Meeting. Non-Executive Directors also receive a sitting allowance for meetings attended.

Details of directors’ remuneration paid and payable by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are as follows:-

Basic Salary/Fees

Other 
Emoluments

(including bonus, 
allowances and

 benefits-in-kind) Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Executive Directors 384 273 657

Non-Executive Directors 48 18 66
  

Executive Directors  No. of Directors

RM50,000 and below 1

RM600,001 - RM650,000 1

Non-Executive Directors   

RM50,000 and below 3

Corporate Governance Statement
cont’d
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SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of establishing good investor relations, clear, timely and effective communication with 
shareholders, institutional investors and the public. The Company is a member of the Malaysian Investor Relations Association, 
which was set up by Bursa Securities to promote effective communication between public listed companies and investors, and 
a participant of the CMDF-Bursa Research Scheme 3 (“CBRS 3”). CBRS 3 is a scheme launched by Bursa Securities to facilitate 
greater investor understanding of the investment potential of companies and aid investors to make better informed decisions. 
The Company has also engaged the services of an investor relations consulting firm to foster better investor relations. Analysts 
briefings are held and financial analysts are given the opportunity to meet with the Management on the Group’s performance 
and other matters involving shareholders’ interests. Information on the Group’s  business acitivities and financial performance is  
disseminated through press releases, announcements and the Company’s website. 
 
The Annual General Meeting is the principal forum for dialogue and interaction with all shareholders, who are given the opportunity 
to enquire and seek clarification on the operations and financial performance of the Group. 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

In presenting the annual financial statements and quarterly announcement of results to shareholders, the Board aims to present a 
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. 
 
Statement of  Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing the Financial Statements

The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 1965 to prepare financial statements for each financial year in accordance with 
applicable approved accounting standards to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company at the end 
of the financial year and the results and cash flows of the Group and the Company for the financial year.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are satisfied that:-

adopted and applied consistently; 

The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept and that the financial statements disclose 
with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the Group and the Company and are in compliance with the Companies Act, 
1965. 

Relationship with the Auditors

The Company maintains a transparent and professional relationship with its external auditors, who shall highlight to the Audit 
Committee and the Board of any matter  that requires the Board’s attention.

The role of the Audit Committee in relation to the external auditors and the Audit Committee Report are set out on pages 17 to 19 
of this Annual Report.

Statement on Internal Control

The Group’s Statement on Internal Control is set out on page 21.

Corporate Governance Statement
cont’d
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Audit Committee Report

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members comprise the following Directors:-

Dato’ Chew Kong Seng Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman  Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan  Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (“COMMITTEE”)

The Committee met once since the Company’s listing on 18 October 2010 up to the financial year ended 31 December 2010 and 
the meeting was attended by all the Committee members.
 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the activities carried out by the Committee were as follows:-

approval; and

Group.
 
Internal Audit Function
 
For the year under review, the existing internal control system was adequate for the level of operations of the Group. With effect 
from 1 February 2011, the Company has established an internal audit function. This function is carried out by an independent 
professional management services firm, which reports directly to the Audit Committee. The objectives of the Internal Audit 
Function include:-

system;

procedures;

 
The internal auditor will conduct audits based on the audit planning memorandum which is approved by the Audit Committee.  
Upon completion of the audits, the internal auditor will conduct follow up reviews on the status of implementation of 
audit recommendations and agreed action plans to ensure that all internal control issues have been duly addressed by the 
Management.  

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

1. Composition of Audit Committee  

1.1 Membership

(a) The Committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors from amongst them and comprise no fewer than 3 
members.
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Audit Committee Report
cont’d

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE  cont’d

1. Composition of Audit Committee  cont’d

1.1 Membership  cont’d

(b) All members of the Committee shall be non-executive directors, of whom a majority shall be independent 
directors and at least one member of the Committee:

(i) must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or

(ii) if he is not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least three years’ working 
experience and:

Act 1967; or 

Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or

(iii) fulfills such other requirements as may be prescribed or approved by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
(“Bursa Securities”).  

(c) No alternate director shall be appointed as a member of the Committee.  

(d) In the event of any vacancy in the Committee resulting in the number of members being reduced to less than 
three, the vacancy shall be filled within 3 months. 

(e) The board of directors must review the term of office and performance of the Committee and each of its members 
at least once every 3 years. 

 
1.2 Chairman

 The members of the Committee shall elect a Chairman from amongst them who shall be an Independent Director.

2. Duties and Functions

 The duties and functions of the Committee are as follows:-

(a) to review the following and report the same to the Board of Directors:-

(i) the audit plan, audit report and the evaluation of the system of internal controls with the external auditor;

(ii) the assistance given by the employees of the Company to the external auditor;

(iii) the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the internal audit function and that it has the necessary 
authority to carry out its work;

(iv) the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, processes or investigation 
undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of the internal audit 
function;

(v) the quarterly results and year end financial statements prior to the approval by the board of directors, 
focusing particularly on the changes in or implementation of major accounting policy changes, significant and 
unusual events, the going concern assumption and compliance with accounting standards and other legal 
requirements; 

(vi) any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or group 
including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management integrity; 
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Audit Committee Report
cont’d

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE  cont’d 

2. Duties and Functions  cont’d 

(b) to consider the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response;

(c) to discuss problems and reservations arising from audits and any matter the external auditor may wish to discuss (in 
the absence of the management where necessary);

(d) to consider the nomination and appointment of the external auditor and review any letter of resignation from the 
external auditor;

(e) to report to Bursa Securities promptly any matter reported by the Committee to the Board of Directors which was not 
satisfactorily resolved resulting in a breach of the Listing Requirements; and

(f ) to consider any other topics as defined by the Board of Directors.

3. Rights

 Whenever necessary and reasonable for the performance of its duties, the Committee shall, in accordance with a procedure 
to be determined by the directors and at the cost of the Company:-

(a) have authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference;

(b) have the resources which are required to perform its duties;

(c) have full and unrestricted access to any information pertaining to the Company and the Group;

(d) have direct communication channels with the external auditors and persons carrying out the internal audit function 
or activity;

(e) be able to obtain independent professional or other advice; and

(f ) be able to convene meetings with the external auditors, internal auditors or both, excluding the attendance of other 
directors and employees of the Company, whenever deemed necessary.

4. Meetings and Reporting Procedures

(a) The Audit Committee shall hold at least 4 meetings per year. 

(b) The quorum shall be a majority of independent directors. 

(c) The internal auditor shall attend Committee meetings to present and discuss audit reports and other relevant matters 
and the recommendations relating thereto and to follow up on all relevant decisions made. Other directors and 
employees may attend any Committee meeting at the Committee’s invitation.  

(d) At the request of the external auditor, the Chairman shall convene a meeting of the Committee to consider any matter 
which the external auditor believes should be brought to the attention of the Board or shareholders. 

(e) The Committee shall meet with the external auditors without executive board members present, whenever it deems 
necessary. 

(f ) The Secretary of the Company shall be the Secretary of the Committee.  

(g) The Minutes of the Committee Meetings are to be extended to the Board of Directors. 
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 The Company did not have any mandate to undertake Share Buy-Back in 2010.

 
 No Options, warrants or convertible securities have been offered/issued by the Company in 2010.

AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“ADR”) OR GLOBAL DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“GDR”)PROGRAMME
 
 The Company did not participate in any ADR or GDR Programme in 2010.

VARIATION IN RESULTS

 There is no variation of 10% or more of the profits between the audited and unaudited results for the year ended  
31 December 2010.

PROFIT GUARANTEE

 No profit guarantees were given by the Company in 2010.

UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PUBLIC ISSUE

 The status of application of the total proceeds of RM12,160,000 from the Public Issue of 16,000,000 shares of RM0.50 each as 
at 17 May 2011 is as follows:-

Particulars 
Proposed 

Utilisation
Actual 

Utilisation Balance Re-allocation
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Building of new factory block 9,000 8,254 746 - 

Working Capital 960 1,120 -             160 

To defray listing expenses 2,200 2,040 - (160)

TOTAL 12,160 11,414 746 -

 There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company and/or its subsidiary companies, Directors or 
Management by the regulatory authorities.

 Non-audit fees of RM189,000 were paid to the external auditors for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

 The Group does not have a revaluation policy on landed properties.

 Save as disclosed below, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company or its subsidiaries involving directors 
and substantial shareholders which were either still subsisting at the end of the financial year or which were entered into 
since the end of the previous financial year:-

(a) Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 6 May 2010 entered into between the Company and the Vendors as set out 
therein for the acquisition of  the entire issued and paid-up share capital of Great Wall Plastic Industries Berhad for a 
purchase consideration of RM136,252,000, which was satisfied by the issuance of 219,999,996 shares in the Company 
at an issue price of approximately RM0.62 each credited as fully paid-up;  

(b) An Underwriting Agreement dated 7 September 2010 entered into between the Company, the offerors as set out 
therein and RHB Investment Bank Berhad in relation to the underwriting of an aggregate of 18,400,000 shares pursuant 
to the Company’s Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) exercise, at an underwriting commission of 2% of the IPO price.  

 There were no recurrent related party transactions in 2010.

Additional Compliance Information
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Statement on Internal Control

INTRODUCTION

This Statement on Internal Control is prepared in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and the Principles and Best Practices of the Malaysian Code on Corporate 
Governance.  

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining a sound system of internal control and risk management practices, and 
reviewing its adequacy and integrity, to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. Such system covers not only 
financial controls but also controls relating to operations, risk management and compliance with applicable laws, regulations, 
rules, directives and guidelines.

The system of internal control encompasses the Group, and is designed to manage the risks to which the Group is exposed 
rather than completely eliminate risks of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.
 

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises the importance of risk management, which is an integral part of the Group’s operations. The Management 
intends to adopt a risk management framework for the Group. Currently, the Chief Executive Officer and Management team 
monitor the day-to-day affairs of the Group by attending scheduled meetings at Management and operational levels to discuss 
policies, procedures and to review performance and operations reports.  

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Internal Audit Function provides independent assurance on the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal control systems 
implemented by the Management. This function, established in February 2011, is carried out by an independent professional 
management services firm, which reports directly to the Audit Committee.  

OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The  key elements of the Group’s internal control system which are in place are as follows:-
 

approved business plan covering both financial and operational matters;

production, quality assurance, cost analysis and any other related matters; 

REVIEW OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL STATEMENT

The external auditors have reviewed this statement for inclusion in the Annual Report of the Company for the financial year ended 
31 December 2010.

CONCLUSION

The Board is of the view that the system of internal control currently in place in the Group is adequate and operating satisfactorily 
at the current level of operations of the Group. During the current financial year to the date of this report, no significant control 
weaknesses were found.  

The Board and Management will continue to improve and enhance the system of internal control from time to time in line with 
changes in the operating environment of the Group.
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Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 14 
to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Group Company

 RM  RM 

Profit net of tax  20,968,048  4,824,130 

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent  20,968,048  4,824,130 

Minority interest  -  - 

 20,968,048  4,824,130 

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year.

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not 
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

DIVIDENDS

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Company declared an interim single-tier tax exempt dividend of 4% 
per share, amounting to a total dividend of RM4,720,000 (2 sen per ordinary share). This dividend was paid on 28 March 2011. The 
financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this dividend paid. Such dividend, was accounted for in equity as 
an appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending 31 December 2011. 

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman    (Appointed on 12 August 2010)
Dato’ Chew Kong Seng @ Chew Kong Huat    (Appointed on 12 August 2010)
Yeoh Soo Ann       (Appointed on 12 August 2010)
Lim Kok Boon       (Appointed on 12 August 2010)
Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan     (Appointed on 12 August 2010)
Ng Heng Hooi      (Resigned with effect from 13 August 2010)
Leong Poi San      (Resigned with effect from 13 August 2010)

In accordance with Article 88 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Lim Kok Boon, Yeoh Soo Ann and Abang Ariffin bin Abang 
Bohan retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 

In accordance with Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965, Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman and Dato Chew Kong 
Seng @ Chew Kong Huat, retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, offer themselves for re-appointment to hold 
office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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Directors’ Report
cont’d

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Group and 
the Company was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of 
the Group and of the Company or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits 
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors or the fixed salary of a full-time 
employee of the Group and of the Company as shown in Note 9 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the 
Group and the Company or a related corporation with any director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a 
company in which the director has a substantial financial interest.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year in shares in 
the Company and its related corporations during the financial year were as follows:

Number of Ordinary Shares of RM0.50 Each

Date of 
Appointment Acquired Sold 31.12.2010

Direct Interest:

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman  750,000  400,000  -  1,150,000 

Dato’ Chew Kong Seng @ Chew Kong Huat  750,000  400,000  -  1,150,000 

Yeoh Soo Ann  25,000,000  -  (5,670,000)  19,330,000 

Lim Kok Boon  15,000,000  400,000  (1,618,000)  13,782,000 

Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan  2,500,000  400,000  -  2,900,000 

Indirect Interest:

Yeoh Soo Ann  72,500,996  -  -  72,500,996 *

Lim Kok Boon  72,500,996  -  -  72,500,996 *

Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan  98,500,400  -  (38,132,000)  60,368,400 **

* Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965 held through Megastart Sdn. Bhd.

** Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965 held through Keybumi Sdn. Bhd.

ISSUE OF SHARES

On 13 April 2010, the Company completed a share split whereby every 1 existing ordinary share of RM1.00 each was subdivided 
into 2 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each. 
    
On 9 August 2010, the Company increased its authorised share capital from RM100,000 divided into 200,000 ordinary shares of 
RM0.50 each to RM300,000,000 divided into 600,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each.     

On 11 August 2010, the Company issued 219,999,996 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at an issue price of approximately RM0.62 
each per ordinary share for the acquisition of shares in a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 14. The share premium of RM26,252,002 
arising from the issuance of ordinary shares has been included in the share premium account.      

On 13 October 2010, the Company issued 16,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at an issue price of RM0.76 each per 
ordinary share to the public in conjunction with the listing of the Company on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad. The share premium of RM4,160,000 arising from the issuance of ordinary shares has been included in the share premium 
account.  
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION 

(a) Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company 
were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision 
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate provision 
had been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in the 
ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

(b) At the date of  this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the financial statements of 
the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and 

(ii) the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

(c) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence 
to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(d) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
misleading.

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist: 

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which 
secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

(f ) In the opinion of the directors:

(i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve 
months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet 
their obligations when they fall due; and

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the 
Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS           
           
Details of significant events are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements.      

     
           
AUDITORS           

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 28 April 2011.    

LIM KOK BOON         YEOH SOO ANN

Directors’ Report
cont’d
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Statement by Directors
Pursuant to Section 169(15) of  the Companies Act, 1965

Statutory Declaration
Pursuant to Section 169(16) of  the Companies Act, 1965

We, Lim Kok Boon and Yeoh Soo Ann, being two of the directors of GW Plastics Holdings Berhad, do hereby state that, in the 
opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 28 to 67 are drawn up in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and of the results and the cash flows of the Group and of the Company 
for the year then ended.

The information set out in Note 33 to the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Guidance on Special 
Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad Listing Requirements as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 28 April 2011.    

LIM KOK BOON         YEOH SOO ANN
     
         

I, Lim Kok Boon, being the director primarily responsible for the financial management of GW Plastics Holdings Berhad, do solemnly 
and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 28 to 68 are in my opinion correct, and I make 
this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations 
Act, 1960.
    

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the
abovenamed Lim Kok Boon at Kuala Lumpur
in the Federal Territory on 28 April 2011.      LIM KOK BOON

Before me,

M. SIVANASON (No.: W590)
Commissioner for Oaths
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Members of  GW Plastics Holdings Berhad
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the financial statements of GW Plastics Holdings Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as 
at 31 December 2010 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes 
in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 28 to 67.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 
31 December 2010 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 (“Act”) in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its 
subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial statements 
of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(c) The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries were not subject to any qualification and did not include 
any comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the Act.
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Members of  GW Plastics Holdings Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
cont’d

OTHER MATTERS

The supplementary information set out in Note 33 to the financial statements on page 68 is disclosed to meet the requirement of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance 
with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure 
Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA 
Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all 
material respect, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

As mentioned in Note 32 to the financial statements which states that the comparative figures of the financial statements of 
the Group are prepared based on the audited financial statements of the Company, Great Wall Plastic Industries Berhad and GW 
Packaging Sdn Bhd for the period/year ended 31 December 2009. As of that date, the Group was not in existence and accordingly 
no audited consolidated financial statements were available.

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 
in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

ERNST & YOUNG        KUA CHOH LEANG
AF: 0039         No. 2716/01/13(J)
Chartered Accountants       Chartered Accountant
       
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia       
28 April 2011       
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Statements of  Comprehensive Income
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010

Group           Company 

 2010  2009  2010  8.12.2009 
(date of  

incorporation) 
to 31.12.2009 

Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Revenue 4  308,240,189  255,503,764  4,840,242  - 

Cost of goods sold  (267,015,202)  (218,860,522)  -  - 

Gross profit  41,224,987  36,643,242  4,840,242  - 

Other items of income

Interest income 5  55,657  898  55,341  - 

Other income 6  477,352  44,821  -  - 

Other items of expense

Marketing and distribution  (7,223,482)  (6,340,622)  -  - 

Administrative expenses  (8,964,661)  (10,151,625)  (58,850)  (4,940)

Finance costs 7  (1,053,062)  (725,920)  -  - 

Other expenses  (283,642)  (670,932)  (1,376)  - 

Profit/(loss) before tax 8  24,233,149  18,799,862 4,835,357  (4,940)

Income tax expense 11  (3,265,101)  (3,456,626)  (11,227)  - 

Profit/(loss) net of tax  20,968,048  15,343,236 4,824,130  (4,940)

Other comprehensive income:

Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets

- Gain on fair value changes  9,600  -  -  - 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  9,600  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  20,977,648  15,343,236 4,824,130  (4,940)

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent  20,968,048  15,343,236 4,824,130  (4,940)

Minority interest  -  -  -  - 

 20,968,048  15,343,236 4,824,130  (4,940)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent  20,977,648  15,343,236 4,824,130  (4,940)

Minority interest  -  -  -  -   

20,977,648 15,343,236 4,824,130 (4,940)

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the 
parent (sen per share)

- Basic 12  9.38  19.18 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of  Financial Position
as at 31 December 2010

 Group              Company 

 2010  2009  2010  2009 

Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 13  168,098,186  151,650,407  -  - 

Investment in subsidiaries 14  -  -  146,252,000  - 

Investment securities 15  110,400  -  -  - 

Deferred tax assets 23  1,854,992  4,174,374  -  - 

 170,063,578  155,824,781  146,252,000  - 

Current assets

Inventories 16  44,182,732  39,449,345  -  - 

Trade and other receivables 17  46,315,582  36,700,757  6,725  630 

Tax recoverable  240,949  84,727  -  - 

Cash and bank balances 18  16,341,963  16,294,954  8,733,841  2 

 107,081,226  92,529,783  8,740,566  632 

Total assets  277,144,804  248,354,564  154,992,566  632 

Equity and liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19  55,041,373  53,127,324  3,761,327  5,570 

Provision of tax  11,227  -  11,227  - 

Loans and borrowings 20  22,410,085  8,823,000  -  - 

 77,462,685  61,950,324  3,772,554  5,570 

Net current assets  29,618,541  30,579,459  4,968,012  (4,938)

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings 20  8,701,658  6,317,235  -  - 

Total liabilities  86,164,343  68,267,559  3,772,554  5,570 

Net assets  190,980,461  180,087,005  151,220,012  (4,938)
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Group          Company 

 2010  2009  2010  2009 

Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital 21  118,000,000  2  118,000,000  2 

Share premium  35,638,304  15,229,882  28,400,822  - 

Merger (deficit)/reserve 22  (48,247,600)  80,004,000  -  - 

Revaluation reserve  2,558,208  2,558,208  -  - 

Fair value adjustment reserve  9,600  -  -  - 

Retained earnings  83,021,949  82,294,913 4,819,190  (4,940)

Total equity  190,980,461  180,087,005 151,220,012  (4,938)

Total equity and liabilities  277,144,804  248,354,564 154,992,566  632 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of  Financial Position
as at 31 December 2010
cont’d
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Statements of  Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010

Attributable to owners of parent

  Non-distributable   Distributable 

 Equity, 
total 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Merger 
Reserve/ 
(Deficit)

 Revaluation 
reserve 

Fair value 
adjustment 

reserve
Retained 
earnings 

Note   RM   RM   RM   RM  RM  RM  RM 

 (Note 21)  (Note 22) 

Group

At 1 January 2009  164,743,769 2 15,229,882 80,004,000 2,558,208  - 66,951,677 

Total 
comprehensive 
income  15,343,236  -  -  -  -  -  15,343,236 

At 31 December 
2009  180,087,005  2  15,229,882  80,004,000  2,558,208  -  82,294,913 

At 1 January 2010  180,087,005 2 15,229,882 80,004,000 2,558,208  - 82,294,913 

Total 
comprehensive 
income  20,977,648  -  -  -  - 9,600  20,968,048 

Rights issue to 
Great Wall 
Plastic Industries 
Berhad’s 
(“GWPI”) 
shareholders 31(a)  8,000  -  (7,992,400)  8,000,400  -   -      - 

Dividends paid 
to GWPI’s 
shareholders 31(b)  (20,241,012)  -  -  -  -  -  (20,241,012)

Issuance of shares  12,160,000  117,999,998  30,412,002  (136,252,000)  -  -  - 

Share issuance 
expenses  (2,011,180)  -  (2,011,180)  -  -  -  - 

At 31 December 
2010  190,980,461  118,000,000  35,638,304  (48,247,600)  2,558,208  9,600  83,021,949 
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Statements of  Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010
cont’d

Attributable to owners of 
parent

             Non-distributable Distributable 

 Equity, total 
Share 

capital 
Share 

premium 
Retained 
earnings 

  RM   RM   RM  RM 

 (Note 21) 

Company

At date of incorporation on 8.12.2009  2 2  -  - 

Total comprehensive expense  (4,940)  -  - (4,940)

At 31 December 2009  (4,938)  2  - (4,940)

At 1 January 2010  (4,938) 2  - (4,940)

Total comprehensive income 4,824,130  -  - 4,824,130

Issuance of shares  148,412,000  117,999,998  30,412,002  - 

Share issuance expenses  (2,011,180)  -  (2,011,180)  - 

At 31 December 2010 151,220,012  118,000,000  28,400,822 4,819,190

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of  Cash Flows
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010

Group  Company 

 2010  2009  2010  8.12.2009 
 (date of  

incorporation) 
to 31.12.2009

Note  RM  RM  RM RM

Operating activities

Profit/(loss) before tax  24,233,149  18,799,862 4,835,357  (4,940)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 8  11,572,861  10,900,390  -  - 

Interest expense 7  1,053,062  725,920  -  - 

Interest income 5  (55,657)  (898) (55,341)  - 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6  (116,730)  (44,821)  -  - 

Net unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss 8  (360,622)  65,038  -  - 

Provision for doubtful debts  -  245,596 

Total adjustments  12,092,914  11,891,225 (55,341)  - 

Operating cash flows before changes in working 
capital  36,326,063  30,691,087  4,780,016  (4,940)

Changes in working capital

Inventories  (4,733,387)  (11,735,890)  -  - 

Receivables  (9,614,825)  (5,284,142)  (6,095)  (630)

Subsidiary  -  -  3,696,197  - 

Payables                2,274,671  26,815,004  59,560  5,570 

Cash generated from operations  24,252,522  40,486,059  8,529,678  - 

Interest received  55,657  898  55,341  - 

Interest paid  (1,053,062)  (725,920)  -  - 

Taxes refund  -  157,972  -  - 

Taxes paid  (1,090,714)  (565,008)  -  - 

Net cash generated from operating activities  22,164,403  39,354,001 8,585,019  - 

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13  (28,253,084)  (10,759,411)  -  - 

Purchase of investment securities 15  (100,800)  -  -  - 

Acquisition of subsidiaries 14  -  -  (10,000,000)  - 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment  349,174  50,390  -  - 

Net cash used in investing activities  (28,004,710)  (10,709,021)  (10,000,000)  - 
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Statements of  Cash Flows
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010
cont’d

Group  Company 

 2010  2009  2010  8.12.2009 
 (date of  

incorporation) 
to 31.12.2009

Note  RM  RM  RM RM

Financing activities

Drawdown of term loans  12,193,105  5,000,000  -  - 

Drawdown of revolving credit  6,000,000  -  -  - 

Drawdown of foreign currency trade loans 30,559,167  -  -  - 

Proceeds from rights issue to previous shareholders 31(a)  8,000  -  -  - 

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 21  12,160,000  -  12,160,000  2 

Share issuance expenses  (2,011,180)  -  (2,011,180)  - 

Repayment of bankers acceptance, revolving credit, 
foreign currency trade loans and term loans  (32,780,764)  (17,816,941)  -  - 

Dividends paid to previous shareholders 31(b)  (20,241,012)  (6,600,330)  -  - 

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing 
activities  5,887,316  (19,417,271)  10,148,820  2 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  47,009  9,227,709  8,733,839  2 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  16,294,954  7,067,245  2  - 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 18  16,341,963  16,294,954  8,733,841  2 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010

1.  CORPORATE INFORMATION       

 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. The registered office of the 
Company is located at Unit F603, Pusat Dagangan Phileo Damansara 1, No. 9 Jalan 16/11, Off Jalan Damansara, 46350 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan and the principal place of business of the Company is at Lot 1608, Rawang Integrated 
Industrial Park, Jalan Rawang Batang Berjuntai, 48000 Rawang, Selangor.

 The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 14. There have 
been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors 
on 28 April 2011.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES        
 
2.1 Basis of Preparation           

   
 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting 

Standards (“FRSs”) and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. At the beginning of the current financial year, the Group 
and the Company adopted new and revised FRSs which are mandatory for financial periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2010 as described fully in Note 2.2.

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as for the revaluation of freehold land 
included under Property, Plant and Equipment.        
   

 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM).       
       

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies          
    

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:
 
 On 1 January 2010, the Group and the Company adopted the following new FRSs, Amendments to FRSs and 

Interpretations which are mandatory for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010:

FRS 7:     Financial Instruments: Disclosures
FRS 8:     Operating Segments
FRS 101:    Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
FRS 123:    Borrowing Costs
FRS 139:    Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Amendments to FRS 1:   First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and 

    FRS 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements: Cost of an Investment   
    in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

Amendments to FRS 2:   Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellation
Amendments to FRS 132:   Financial Instruments: Presentation 
Amendments to FRS 139:   Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,  FRS 7: Financial Instruments: 
    Disclosures and IC Interpretation 9: Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 
Improvements to FRS issued in 2009
IC Interpretation 9:   Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
IC Interpretation 10:   Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
IC Interpretation 11:   FRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions
IC Interpretation 13:   Customer Loyalty Programmes 
IC Interpretation 14:   FRS 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and  
    their Interaction

        
 FRS 4 Insurance Contracts and TR i-3 Presentation of Financial Statements of Islamic Financial Institutions will also be 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. These FRS are, however, not applicable to the Group 
or the Company.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d
     

 2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies  cont’d         
 

 Effects arising from the adoption of the above standards and interpretations on the financial performance or position 
of the Group and the Company are discussed below:

 FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures         
 

 Prior to 1 January 2010, information about financial instruments was disclosed in accordance with the requirements 
of FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. FRS 7 introduces new disclosures of qualitative and 
quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including sensitivity analysis to 
market risk.            

 The Group and the Company have applied FRS 7 prospectively in accordance with the transitional provisions. Hence, 
the new disclosures have not been applied to the comparatives. The new disclosures are included throughout the 
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.     

 FRS 8 Operating Segments          

 FRS 8, which replaces FRS 114 Segment Reporting, specifies how an entity should report information about its 
operating segments, based on information about the components of the entity that is available to the chief 
operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance. 
The Standard also requires the disclosure of information about the products and services provided by the segments, 
the geographical areas in which the Group operates, and revenue from the Group’s major customers. The Group 
concluded that the reportable operating segments determined in accordance with FRS 8 are the same as the business 
segments previously identified under FRS 114. The Group has adopted FRS 8 retrospectively. The disclosures are 
shown in Note 29.           
   
FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)       
  

 The revised FRS 101 introduces changes in the presentation and disclosures of financial statements. The revised 
standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity includes only 
details of transaction with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. The standard also 
introduces the statement of comprehensive income, with all items of income and expense recognised in profit or loss, 
together with all other items of income and expense recognised directly in equity, either in one single statement, or 
in two linked statements. The Group and the Company has elected to present this statement as one single statement. 
             
In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the beginning of the earliest comparative period following 
a change in accounting policy, the correction of an error or the classification of items in the financial statements.  
            

 The revised FRS 101 also requires the Group to make new disclosures to enable users of the financial statements to 
evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.     
         

 The revised FRS 101 was adopted retrospectively by the Group and the Company.
             

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010
cont’d
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d
     

 2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies  cont’d

 FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
              

FRS 139 establishes principles for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts 
to buy and sell non-financial items. The Group and the Company have adopted FRS 139 prospectively on 1 January 
2010 in accordance with the transitional provisions. The effects arising from the adoption of this Standard has been 
accounted for by adjusting the opening balance of retained earnings as at 1 January 2010. Comparatives are not 
restated. The details of the changes in accounting policies and the effects arising from the adoption of FRS 139 are 
discussed below:
   

             
 Prior to 1 January 2010, provision for doubtful debts was recognised when it was considered uncollectible. Upon 

the adoption of FRS 139, an impairment loss is recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment 
loss has been incurred. The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the receivable’s carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the receivable’s original effective 
interest rate. As at 1 January 2010, the Group has remeasured the allowance for impairment losses as at that date 
in accordance with FRS 139 and the difference is recognised as adjustments to the opening balance of retained 
earnings as at that date.          
   

2.3 Standards Issued but Not Yet Effective
 
 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, new FRSs, Amendments to FRSs and Interpretations which 

were issued but not yet effective, for which the Group and of the Company have not early adopted are as follows:

 Effective for Financial Periods Beginning on or after 1 March 2010      
 

 Amendments to FRS 132: Classification of Rights Issues        

 Effective for Financial Periods Beginning on or after 1 July 2010      

 FRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards       
FRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised)         
FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements       
Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment         
Amendments to FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations    
Amendments to FRS 138 Intangible Assets         
Amendments to IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives     
IC Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements        
IC Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation      
IC Interpretation 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners       

 Effective for Financial Periods Beginning on or after 1 January 2011      

 Amendments to FRS 1 Limited Exemption from Comparatives FRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters   
Amendments to FRS 1 Additional Exemption for First-Time Adopters      
Amendments to FRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions     
Amendments to FRS 7 Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments      
IC Interpretation 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease     
IC Interpretation 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers        
Improvement to FRSs 2010          

 Effective for Financial Periods Beginning on or after 1 July 2011      

 Amendments to IC Interpretation 14 Prepayment of a Minimum Funding Requirement    
IC Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments     

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010

cont’d
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

2.3 Standards Issued but Not Yet Effective  cont’d

 Effective for Financial Periods Beginning on or after 1 January 2012      

 FRS 124 Related Party Disclosures          
IC Interpretation 15 Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate      
Amendments to IC Interpretation 15 Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate     
     

 The initial application of the above are expected to have no significant impact on the financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company in the period of initial application except for the new disclosures required under the Amendment 
to FRS 7; as well as the changes arising from the adoption of FRS 3, and Amendments to FRS 127 as discussed below. 

 The revised FRS 3 introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after 1 
July 2010. These changes will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an 
acquisition occurs, and future reported results. The Amendments to FRS 127 require that a change in the ownership 
interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) to be accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such 
transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will they give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended 
standard changes the accounting  for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. 

 The changes from revised FRS 3 and Amendments to FRS 127 will affect future acquisitions or loss of control and 
transactions with minority interests.          

2.4 Basis of Consolidation           

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 
the reporting date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Group. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances.        

 All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in full.            

 Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. Adjustments to those fair values relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and 
recognised in other comprehensive income. The cost of a business combination is measured as the aggregate of the 
fair values, at the date of exchange, of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued, 
plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.  

 Any excess of the cost of business combination over the Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill on the statement of financial position. 
Any excess of the Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities over the cost of business combination is recognised as income in profit or loss on the date of 
acquisition. When the Group acquires a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the 
acquiree are reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination results in a change in the terms of the contract 
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

 Subsidiary is consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

 Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for by applying the pooling of interest 
method. The acquisition of 100% equity interest in Great Wall Plastic Industries Berhad and GW Packaging Sdn. Bhd. 
has been accounted for as a business combination among entities under common control. Accordingly, the assets 
and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their carrying amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements of the controlling holding company. Any difference between the consideration paid and the share capital 
of the “acquired” ’entity is reflected within equity as merger reserve/deficit. The statement of comprehensive income 
reflects the results of the combining entities for the full year, irrespective of when the combination takes place. 
Comparatives are presented as if the entities have always been combined since the date the entities had come under 
common control.           

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010
cont’d
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d 

2.5 Foreign Currency     

(a) Functional and Presentation Currency    
             

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM).

(b) Foreign Currency Transactions  

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its 
subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating 
those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the 
initial transactions. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the 
reporting date are recognised in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that form 
part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which are recognised initially in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation 
reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss of the Group on disposal of the foreign operation.

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit 
or loss for the period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect of 
which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from such non-monetary 
items are also recognised directly in equity.

2.6 Property, Plant and Equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.      

 Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be 
replaced in intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, 
respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Freehold land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation on buildings and impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation.    

 Freehold land of the Group has not been revalued since it was first revalued in 1995. The directors have not adopted a 
policy of regular revaluations of such asset. As permitted under the transitional provisions of IAS 16 (Revised): Property, 
Plant and Equipment, this asset continues to be stated at its 1995 valuation.      

 Any revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the asset 
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised 
in profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in profit or 
loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset carried in the asset revaluation reserve. 

 Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset 
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. The revaluation surplus included in the asset 
revaluation reserve in respect of an asset is transferred directly to retained earnings on retirement or disposal of the 
asset.             

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

2.6 Property, Plant and Equipment  cont’d

 Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:         

- Buildings and warehouse    50 years 
- Plant, machinery and equipment  10 to 14 years 
- Computers    5 years  
- Office equipment, furniture and fittings  10 years  
- Motor vehicles    5 years   

 Assets under construction included in plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available 
for use.             

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.        

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial period-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.          

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in the 
year the asset is derecognised.           
    

2.7 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets         
    

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of 
the asset’s recoverable amount.          

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units (“CGU”)).           

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 
is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to 
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.    

 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation 
was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.          

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is 
measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. Impairment loss on 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.          

2.8 Subsidiaries            

 A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities.            

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment 
losses.  

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2010
cont’d
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d       
     
2.9 Financial Assets          

Financial assets are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group and the 
Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

 When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not at 
fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.  

 The Group and the Company determine the classification of their financial assets at initial recognition, and the 
categories include financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 
investments and available-for-sale financial assets.

(a) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss        
 

 Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if they are held for trading 
or are designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets held for trading are derivatives (including 
separated embedded derivatives) or financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near 
term.

 
 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or net losses on 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss do not include exchange differences, interest and dividend 
income. Exchange differences, interest and dividend income on financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognised separately in profit or loss as part of other losses or other income.     

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss could be presented as current or non-current. Financial assets 
that is held primarily for trading purposes are presented as current whereas financial assets that is not held 
primarily for trading purposes are presented as current or non-current based on the settlement date.   

(b)  Loans and Receivables

 Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as 
loans and receivables.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised 
or impaired, and through the amortisation process.       

 Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates later than 12 
months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current.      
 

(c)  Held to Maturity Investment          
 

 Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when 
the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity.     
 

 Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the held-to-maturity investments 
are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.      
 

 Held-to-maturity investments are classified as non-current assets, except for those having maturity within 12 
months after the reporting date which are classified as current.      

(d)  Available-for Sale-financial Assets         
 

 Available-for-sale are financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of the 
three preceding categories. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

2.9 Financial Assets  cont’d

(d)  Available-for Sale-financial Assets  cont’d
 
 After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses 

from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in other comprehensive income, except that 
impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using 
the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when 
the financial asset is derecognised. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method is recognised 
in profit or loss. Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in profit or loss when the 
Group and the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

 Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less 
impairment loss.  

 
 Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets unless they are expected to be realised 

within 12 months after the reporting date.

 A financial asset is derecognised where contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On 
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in profit or loss.          

 Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within period 
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular way purchases and sales 
of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date, the date that the Group and the Company commit 
to purchase or sell the asset.           
   

2.10 Impairment of Financial Assets           

 The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired.            

(a) Trade and Other Receivables and Other Financial Assets Carried at Amortised Cost    

 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, 
the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor and default or significant delay in payments. For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade 
receivables and other receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed 
for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. Objective evidence of impairment for 
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the 
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period and observable changes in national 
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.     
 

 If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.      

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. When a trade receivable becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.  

 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the 
reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.        

(b) Available-for-sale Financial Assets          

 Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, 
and the disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that investment securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are impaired. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

2.10 Impairment of Financial Assets  cont’d

(b) Available-for-sale Financial Assets  cont’d

 If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net 
of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to profit or loss.     

 Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in profit or loss in the subsequent 
periods. Increase in fair value, if any, subsequent to impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive 
income. For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed in profit or 
loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
recognition of the impairment loss in profit or loss.       
        

2.11 Cash and Cash Equivalents          

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.   
 

2.12 Inventories            

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition are accounted for as follows:        
           
- Raw materials: purchase costs on a first-in first-out basis      
- Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing 

overheads based on normal operating capacity. These costs are assigned on a first-in first-out basis.  

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.         

2.13 Provisions            

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.         

 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer 
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If 
the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.         
      

2.14 Financial Liabilities           

 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the 
definitions of a financial liability.          

 Financial liabilities, within the scope of FRS 139, are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only 
when, the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial 
liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities.   

(a) Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss       

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.    
 

 Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by the Group and the Company that do not 
meet the hedge accounting criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently 
stated at fair value, with any resultant gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on derivatives 
include exchange differences.          

 The Group and the Company have not designated any financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d

2.14 Financial Liabilities  cont’d

(b) Other Financial Liabilities          

 The Group’s and the Company’s other financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and loans and 
borrowings.           
  

 Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.     
   

 Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities 
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date.           
      

 For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, 
and through the amortisation process.           

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.  

2.15 Borrowing Costs          
            
Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing 
costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of 
interest and other costs that the Group and the Company incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.

            
2.16 Employee Benefits           

(a) Defined Contribution Plans          
             
The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has 
operations. The Malaysian companies in the Group make contributions to the Employees Provident Fund in 
Malaysia, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed. 

(b) Short Term Benefits           
  

 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which 
the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short term accumulating compensated 
absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their 
entitlement to future compensated absences, and short term non-accumulating compensated absences such as 
sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

             
2.17 Revenue Recognition           

 
 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 

revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

(a) Sale of Goods           
 

 Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of 
the goods to the customer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties 
regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d 

2.17 Revenue Recognition  cont’d 
        
 (b) Interest Income           

  
  Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

             
2.18 Income Taxes            

(a) Current Income Tax           
  

 Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised outside 
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

(b) Deferred Tax           
  

 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.       

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised except: 
      
- where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax 
assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in 
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised. 

              
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised.  

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 

 
 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred 

tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 
acquisition. 

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  cont’d
             
2.19 Share Capital and Share Issuance Expenses        

      
 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the Company 

after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments.

 Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs. 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which 
they are declared.

             
2.20 Contingencies            

  
 A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of the 
Group. 

 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group. 
             
2.21 Segment Reporting           

   
 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services 

which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the 
respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Company 
who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment 
performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 29, including the factors used to 
identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.   

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
             

 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities 
at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.
             
3.1 Judgements Made in Applying Accounting Policies
 
 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart 

from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements:  

              
Impairment of Receivables

 The Group makes impairment of receivables based on objective evidence and the circumstances that affect the 
recoverability of receivables and counterparties.

             
Impairment are applied to receivables and counterparties where events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Management specifically reviewed historical bad debts, customer 
creditworthiness and current economic trends when making a judgement to evaluate the impairment on receivables 
and counterparties where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the 
carrying amounts. The carrying amount of the Group’s receivables at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 17.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  cont’d

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial period are discussed below.

(a) Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment        
     

 The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period over which the 
assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and 
tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the relevant assets. In addition, 
the estimation of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment is based on internal technical evaluation 
and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially 
affected by changes in the estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The Group also 
performs annual review of the assumptions made on useful lives to ensure that they continue to be valid. Details 
of useful lives of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 2.6.

             
(b) Depreciation of Plant and Machinery         

    
 The cost of plant and machinery for the manufacture of plastic film packaging products is depreciated on a 

straight-line basis over the assets’ useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these plant and 
machinery to be within 10 to 14 years. These are common life expectancies applied in the industry. Changes in 
the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the 
residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised. Details of depreciation 
charge are disclosed in Note 8.         

(c) Income Tax           

 Significant estimation is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions 
and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  
The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will 
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that have been initially 
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. Details of income tax expense are disclosed in Note 11.

 
(d) Deferred Tax Assets           

  
 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses and capital allowances can be 
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can 
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning 
strategies.

 In previous financial year, deferred tax asset is recognised on the unabsorbed reinvestment allowances of the 
Group upon adoption of revised FRS 112 Income Taxes that requires deferred tax asset to be recognised on the 
unabsorbed reinvestment allowances, as detailed in Note 23.

 The total carrying value of recognised reinvestment allowances of the Group was RM96,808,000 (2009: 
RM94,426,000).
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4. REVENUE             
 

 Group            Company 

 2010  2009  2010  8.12.2009 
 (date of  

incorporation) 
to 31.12.2009

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Sale of goods 308,240,189 255,503,764  -  - 

Dividend income from a subsidiary  -  -  4,840,242  - 

 308,240,189  255,503,764  4,840,242  - 
              
 

5. INTEREST INCOME            

 Group            Company 

 2010  2009  2010  8.12.2009 
 (date of  

incorporation) 
to 31.12.2009

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Interest income from:

Loans and receivables  55,657  898  55,341  - 
              

6. OTHER INCOME            
              

 Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  116,730  44,821 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain  360,622  - 

477,352 44,821 
              

7. FINANCE COSTS            

 Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Interest expense on:

- Term loans  683,801  642,596 

- Revolving credit  323,483  53,672 

- Foreign currency trade loans  32,115  10,765 

- Bankers acceptance  8,050  10,724 

- Bank overdrafts  5,613  8,163 

1,053,062 725,920 
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 
          
 The following amounts have been included in arriving at profit/(loss) before tax:      

              

 Group            Company 

 2010  2009  2010  8.12.2009 
 (date of  

incorporation) 
to 31.12.2009

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Auditors’ remuneration

- Statutory audits  80,000  52,000  30,000  2,000 

- other services  189,000  -  -  - 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
(Note 13)  11,572,861  10,900,390  -  - 

Non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 10)  66,000  57,000  48,000  - 

Provision for doubtful debts  -  245,596  -  - 

Net (gain)/loss on foreign exchange

- unrealised  (360,622)  65,038  -  - 

- realised  28,043  1,863,163  -  - 

Employee benefits expense (Note 9)  20,935,089  17,917,266  -  - 

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE           
             

 Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Wages, salaries and bonuses  14,449,523  12,244,913 

Social security contributions and pension cost – defined contribution plans  1,450,932  1,653,495 

Other benefits  5,034,634  4,018,858 

 20,935,089  17,917,266 
             

 Included in employee benefits expense of the Group is an executive director’s remuneration amounting to RM604,560 (2009: 
RM545,776).             
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION           
 

 The details of remuneration receivable by directors of the Company during the year are as follows:  
  

 Group            Company 

 2010  2009  2010  8.12.2009 
 (date of  

incorporation) 
to 31.12.2009

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Executive:

- Salaries and other emoluments  415,096  400,468  -  - 

- Bonus  128,000  90,000  -  - 

- Defined contribution plan  61,464  55,308  -  - 

Total executive directors’ remuneration (excluding 
benefits-in-kind) (Note 9)  604,560  545,776  -  - 

- Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind  52,400  52,400  -  - 

Total executive directors’ remuneration (including 
benefits-in-kind)  656,960  598,176  -  - 

Non-Executive:

- Fees  48,000  52,000  48,000  - 

- Other emoluments  3,000  5,000  -  - 

- Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind  15,000  -  -  - 

Total non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 8)  66,000  57,000  48,000  - 

Total directors’ remuneration  722,960  655,176  48,000  - 

 The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the year fell within the following bands is analysed 
below:

  

                    Number of Directors

 2010  2009 

Executive directors:

RM50,000 and below  1  1 

RM550,001 -  RM600,000  -  1 

RM600,001 - RM650,000  1  - 

 2  2 

Non-Executive directors:

RM50,000 and below  3  3 
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE           
            

 Major Components of Income Tax Expense         

 The major components of income tax expense for the period ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 are: 
            

 Group            Company 

 2010  2009  2010  8.12.2009 
 (date of  

incorporation) 
to 31.12.2009

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Statement of comprehensive income:

Current year income tax:

- Malaysian income tax  934,267  990,000  11,227  - 

- Under provision  11,452  -  -  - 

Deferred income tax (Note 23):

- Origination and reversal of temporary
       differences  2,194,601  2,429,107  -  - 

- Under provision in respect of previous years  124,781  37,519  -  - 

 2,319,382  2,466,626  -  - 

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss  3,265,101  3,456,626  11,227  - 

 Reconciliation between Tax Expense and Accounting Profit

 A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax 
expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:

 Group            Company 

 2010  2009  2010  8.12.2009 
 (date of  

incorporation) 
to 31.12.2009

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Profit/(loss) before tax  24,233,149  18,799,862  4,835,357  (4,940)

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% 
(2009: 25%)  6,058,287  4,699,966  1,208,839  (1,235)

Income not subject to taxation  -  -  (1,210,060)  - 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  287,637  187,157  12,448  1,235 

Realisation of deferred tax liabilities for controlled 
transferred assets  (98,000)  (29,000)  -  - 

Utilisation of current year’s reinvestment 
allowances  (2,223,887)  (1,439,016)  -  - 

Deferred tax assets recognised on reinvestment 
allowances  (895,169)  -  -  - 

Under provision of deferred tax in prior years  124,781  37,519  -  - 

Under provision of tax expenses in prior years  11,452  -  -  - 

Income tax expense for the year  3,265,101  3,456,626  11,227  - 
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic             

 Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year, net of tax, attributable to owners of the 
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.    

 The following tables reflect the profit and share data used in the computation of basic earnings per share for the years 
ended 31 December:           
             

 Group

 2010  2009 

Profit net of tax attributable to owners of the parent used in the computation of 
basic earnings per share (RM)  20,968,048  15,343,236 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 
computation  223,506,849  80,004,002*

Basic earnings per share (sen)  9.38  19.18 
             

* The weighted average number of ordinary shares for 2009 is the number of ordinary shares in Great Wall Plastic Industries Berhad 
and the Company prior to the merger.

      
(b) Diluted           

              
 The Group does not have any potential dilutive ordinary shares as at balance sheet date.     

  
 There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares between the balance sheet and the reporting date.  
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
  

 Freehold 
land 

Factory 
buildings 

and 
warehouse 

Office 
building 

Plant,  
machinery 

and 
equipment 

 Office 
equipment, 

furniture 
and fittings 

Motor 
vehicles 

Construction 
Work-in- 
Progress Total

 Group  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cost or valuation:
 At 

valuation   At cost  

At 1 January 2009  9,260,070  45,084,586  550,000  194,183,375  6,425,935  5,595,849  -  261,099,815 

Additions  -  9,917  -  10,351,377  98,117  300,000  -  10,759,411 

Disposals  -  -  -  (486,412)  (184,200)  -  -  (670,612)

At 31 December 
2009 and  
1 January 2010  9,260,070  45,094,503  550,000  204,048,340  6,339,852  5,895,849  -  271,188,614 

Additions  -  178,436  -  21,651,939  120,509  400,000  5,902,200  28,253,084 

Disposals  -  -  -  (7,667,006)  (3,850)  (285,880)  -  (7,956,736)

At 31 December 
2010  9,260,070  45,272,939  550,000  218,033,273  6,456,511  6,009,969  5,902,200  291,484,962 

Accumulated 
depreciation:

At 1 January 2009  -  8,324,506  46,750  91,300,175  6,036,606  3,594,823  -  109,302,860 

Depreciation 
charge for the 
year:  -  901,790  11,000  9,233,630  138,925  615,045  -  10,900,390 

Recognised in 
profit or loss  -  901,790  11,000  9,233,630  138,925  615,045  -  10,900,390 

Disposals  -  -  -  (480,921)  (184,122)  -  -  (665,043)

At 31 December 
2009 and  
1 January 2010  -  9,226,296  57,750  100,052,884  5,991,409  4,209,868  -  119,538,207 

Depreciation 
charge for the 
period:  -  903,545  11,000  10,072,367  139,166  446,783  -  11,572,861 

Recognised in 
profit or loss  -  903,545  11,000  10,072,367  139,166  446,783  -  11,572,861 

Disposals  -  -  -  (7,434,562)  (3,850)  (285,880)  -  (7,724,292)

At 31 December 
2010  -  10,129,841  68,750  102,690,689  6,126,725  4,370,771  -  123,386,776 

Net carrying 
amount:

At 31 December 
2009  9,260,070  35,868,207  492,250  103,995,456  348,443  1,685,981  -  151,650,407 

At 31 December 
2010  9,260,070  35,143,098  481,250  115,342,584  329,786  1,639,198  5,902,200  168,098,186 
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  cont’d

 Revaluation of Freehold Land 
 
 The freehold land has not been revalued since it was first revalued in 1995. The directors have not adopted a policy of regular 

revaluations of such asset. As permitted under the transitional provisions of IAS 16 (Revised): Property, Plant and Equipment, 
this asset continues to be stated at its 1995 valuation.

 At 31 December 2010, had the revalued freehold land of the Group been carried under the cost model, the carrying amount 
would have been RM1,760,000 (2009: RM1,760,000).

14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES           

             Company 

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Unquoted shares at cost  146,252,000   - 
              
Movement in the cost of investment in subsidiaries are as summarised below:      
             

Note RM

Cost:

Acquisition of GW Packaging Sdn. Bhd. 10,000,000 

Acquisition of Great Wall Plastic Industries Berhad  14(a) 136,252,000 

146,252,000 
             
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:          

Name of Subsidiaries Principal Activities
Country of 

Incorporation
Proportion of Ownership 

Interest

 2010  2009 

Great Wall Plastic 
Industries Berhad* 
(“GWPI”)

Manufacturing and marketing of plastic film 
packaging products

Malaysia 100% -

GW Packaging Sdn. Bhd.* Manufacturing and marketing of plastic film 
packaging products

Malaysia 100% -

   
* Audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia.          
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14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES   cont’d          
   
(a) On 11 August 2010, the Company completed the acquisition of GWPI as disclosed in Note 31 for a total purchase 

consideration of RM136,252,000. The acquisition was made in conjunction with and as an integral part of the Company’s 
listing exercise.            
            

 The acquisition arises from a common control transfer and has been accounted for in the consolidated financial 
statements under the principle of merger method of accounting.       

 The effects of the said transaction on the financial statements of the Group are as follows:-    
         

RM

Purchase consideration  136,252,000 

Less: Nominal value of investment in Great Wall Plastic Industries Berhad acquired  
(ordinary shares) (88,004,400)

Merger deficit as at 31 December 2010 (Note 22)  48,247,600 

15. INVESTMENT SECURITIES           
            

Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Non-current

Available-for-sale financial assets – carrying amount

- Equity instruments (quoted in Malaysia)  110,400  - 

Market value of quoted investment  110,400  - 
              
 

16. INVENTORIES            
             

Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Cost:

Raw materials  26,175,567  27,036,304 

Work-in-progress  6,327,270  4,798,517 

Finished goods  9,347,062  5,338,077 

Consumable goods  2,332,833  2,276,447 

 44,182,732  39,449,345 
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES          
 

 Group              Company 

 2010  2009  2010  2009 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Current

Trade receivables

Third parties  37,699,344  35,449,308  -  - 

Less: Allowance for impairment

      - Third parties  (361,016)  (361,016)  -  - 

Trade receivables, net  37,338,328  35,088,292  -  - 

Other receivables

Sundry receivables  1,731,737  1,039,118  -  - 

Refundable deposits  7,118,127  418,672  -  - 

Prepayments  127,390  154,675  6,725  630 

 8,977,254  1,612,465  6,725  630 

 46,315,582  36,700,757  6,725  630 

Total trade and other receivables  46,315,582  36,700,757  6,725  630 

Add: Cash and bank balances (Note 18)  16,341,963  16,294,954  8,733,841  2 

Total loans and receivables  62,657,545  52,995,711  8,740,566  632 

(a) Trade Receivables 
  

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days (2009: 30 to 90 days) terms. They are 
recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. 

 Ageing Analysis of Trade Receivables 

 The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows: 
 

 Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Neither past due nor impaired  34,361,893  31,885,644 

1 to 30 days past due not impaired  2,158,174  2,721,788 

31 to 60 days past due not impaired  623,742  339,629 

61 to 90 days past due not impaired  9,277  68,371 

91 to 120 days past due not impaired  5,443  435 

More than 121 days past due not impaired  179,799  72,425 

 2,976,435  3,202,648 

Impaired  361,016  361,016 

 37,699,344  35,449,308 
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  cont’d         
 
(a) Trade Receivables  cont’d 

Receivables that are neither Past due nor Impaired       
       
 Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with the 

Group. 

 None of the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during the 
financial year.      

       
Receivables that are Past due but not Impaired       

       
 The Group has trade receivables amounting to RM2,976,435 (2009: RM3,202,648) that are past due at the reporting 

date but not impaired.      
             

Receivables that are Impaired        
       
 The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the allowance accounts 

used to record the impairment are as follows:
      

                    Individually impaired 

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Trade receivables

- nominal amounts  361,016  361,016 

Less: Allowance for impairment  (361,016)  (361,016)

- -
             
Movement in allowance accounts:          
   

                    Individually impaired 

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

At 1 January  361,016  715,065 

Charge for the year  -  245,596 

Written off  -  (599,645)

At 31 December  361,016  361,016 
      

 Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors that are in 
significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or 
credit enhancements.
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18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES           
              

Group           Company 

 2010  2009  2010  2009 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cash on hand and at banks  16,341,963  16,294,954  8,733,841  2 

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group           Company 

 2010  2009  2010  2009 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Trade payables

Third parties  45,893,928  46,929,830  -  - 

Other payables

Amounts due to a subsidiary  -  -  3,696,197  - 

Accruals  6,211,601  4,952,781  48,000  - 

Deposits  11,660  11,510  -  - 

Sundry payables  2,924,184  1,233,203  17,130  5,570 

 9,147,445  6,197,494  3,761,327  5,570 

Total trade and other payables 55,041,373 53,127,324 3,761,327 5,570 

Add: Loans and borrowings (Note 20)  31,111,743  15,140,235  -  - 

Total other financial liabilities carried at amortised 
cost 86,153,116 68,267,559 3,761,327 5,570 

             
(a) Trade Payables            

 
 These amounts are non-interest bearing. Trade payables are normally settled on 30 to 90 days (2009: 30 to 90 days) 

terms.  

(b) Other Payables            
 

 These amounts are non-interest bearing. Sundry payables are normally settled on an average term of 60 days (2009: 
average term of 60 days).

(c) Amount due to a Subsidiary          

The amount due to a subsidiary is unsecured, non-interest bearing and is repayable on demand.
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20. LOANS AND BORROWINGS           
             

Group

 2010  2009 

 Maturity  RM  RM 

Current

Unsecured:

Revolving credit  On demand 5,000,000  - 

Foreign currency trade loans 8,955,759  - 

Term loans 2011 8,454,326  8,823,000 

 22,410,085  8,823,000 

Non-current

Unsecured:

Term loans 2013  8,701,658  6,317,235 

Total loans and borrowings  31,111,743  15,140,235 

The remaining maturities of the loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2010 are as follows:

Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

On demand or within one year  22,410,085  8,823,000 

More than 1 year and less than 2 years  5,792,183  4,491,235 

More than 2 years and less than 5 years  2,909,475  1,826,000 

 31,111,743  15,140,235 

 Loans and borrowings are covered by negative pledges over the Group’s assets.

 Revolving Credit

 Revolving credit is denominated in RM, bear interest rate ranging from 3.68%-4.35% per annum.

 Term Loans

 Term loans bear interest rate ranging from 3.55%-4.46% (2009: 3.90% to 4.92%) per annum.

 Foreign Currency Trade Loans

 Foreign currency trade loans are denominated in RM, bear interest rate ranging from 0.85% to 1.55% per annum.
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21. SHARE CAPITAL            
 

                     Number of shares                     Amount

 2010  2009  2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Authorised

Ordinary shares of RM0.50 (2009: RM1.00) per 
share#

At date of incorporation/1 January  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000 

Increased pursuant to share split#  100,000  -  -  - 

Created during the year  599,800,000  -  299,900,000  - 

At 31 December  600,000,000  100,000  300,000,000  100,000 

Issued and Fully Paid-up

Ordinary shares of RM0.50 (2009: RM1.00) per 
share#

At date of incorporation/1 January  2  -  2  - 

Issue of shares  -  2  -  2 

Increased pursuant to share split#  2  -  -  - 

Issued during the period pursuant to listing 
exercises:

- Acquisition of subsidiaries  219,999,996  -  109,999,998  - 

- Public issue  16,000,000  -  8,000,000  - 

At 31 December  236,000,000  2  118,000,000  2 

 Ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The holders of ordinary 
shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of 
the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.    
             
#  On 13 April 2010, the Company completed a share split whereby every 1 existing ordinary share of RM1.00 each was subdivided into 2 

ordinary shares of RM0.50 each.

 On 9 August 2010, the Company increased its authorised share capital from RM100,000 divided into 200,000 ordinary shares 
of RM0.50 each to RM300,000,000 divided into 600,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each.    
            

 On 11 August 2010, the Company issued 219,999,996 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at an issue price of approximately 
RM0.62 each per ordinary share for the acquisition of shares in a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 14(a). The share premium of 
RM26,252,002 arising from the issuance of ordinary shares has been included in the share premium account.    
           

 On 13 October 2010, the Company issued 16,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at an issue price of RM0.76 each per 
ordinary share for public issue and listing. The share premium of RM4,160,000 arising from the issuance of ordinary shares 
has been included in the share premium account.          
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22. RESERVES             
              

Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Merger (deficit)/reserve  (48,247,600)  80,004,000 
              
As disclosed in Note 14(a), merger deficit is the difference between the nominal value and share premium of ordinary shares 
issued by the Company as consideration and the nominal value of ordinary shares of subsidiaries acquired.   
           

              
23. DEFERRED TAX

 Deferred Tax Assets – Group

1.1.2009
Recognised in 

profit or loss 31.12.2009
Recognised in 

profit or loss 31.12.2010

RM RM RM RM RM

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (17,768,000) (1,664,130) (19,432,130) (2,994,718) (22,426,848)

Deferred tax assets:

Unutilised reinvestment 
allowance 24,409,000 (802,496) 23,606,504 595,605 24,202,109

Unabsorbed capital allowance - - - 79,731 79,731

24,409,000 (802,496) 23,606,504 675,336 24,281,840

6,641,000 (2,466,626) 4,174,374 (2,319,382) 1,854,992

24. DIVIDENDS             
              

Dividend in 
respect of 
year 2010 

Dividend 
recognised in 

year 2010 

 RM  RM 

4% interim single-tier tax exempt dividend for 2010 

(2 sen per ordinary share)  4,720,000  - 
              

25. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS           
   

 Capital expenditure committed as at the reporting date is as follows:
          

 Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Capital expenditure:

Approved and contracted for:

Property, plant and equipment  19,777,147  384,096 
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS          

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the following transactions 
with the related party during the financial year:

  

 2010 2009

 RM  RM 

Purchase of motor vehicles from a company in which certain directors of the 
company have interest  - 300,000 

(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel        
     

 The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the periods was as follows:
 

 Group

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Short term employee benefits 1,624,200  1,505,040 

Defined contribution plan  195,108  180,948 

Other short-term benefits  116,773  126,257 

 1,936,081  1,812,245 
            

 Included in the total key management personnel are:       
 

Executive directors’ remuneration (Note 10) 656,960 598,176 

27. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS         
 
A. Determination of Fair Value          

 
 Financial Instruments that are not Carried at Fair Value and Whose Carrying Amounts are Reasonable 

Approximation of Fair Value

 The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of fair value: 

             

Note

Trade and other receivables (current) 17

Trade and other payables (current) 19

Loans and borrowings (current) 20

Loans and borrowings (non-current) 20

 The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due to 
their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near 
the reporting date.

 The carrying amounts of the current portion of loans and borrowings are reasonable approximations of fair values due 
to the insignificant impact of discounting.

 The fair values of non-current loans and borrowings are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at market 
incremental lending rate for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the reporting date.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

 The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of financial instruments. The key financial 
risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.

 The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which are executed 
by the Chief Executive Officer.

 It is, and has been throughout the current period and previous financial year, the Group’s policy that no derivatives shall 
be undertaken except for the use as hedging instruments where appropriate and cost-efficient. The Group does not apply 
hedge accounting.

 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks and the 
objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a) Credit Risk

 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its 
obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For other financial 
assets, cash and bank balances, the Group minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating 
counterparties. 

 The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit 
risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all 
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. 

 Exposure to Credit Risk  

 At the reporting date, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by:     
       
-  The carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of financial position.  

          
 Information regarding credit enhancements for trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 17.   

             
Credit Risk Concentration Profile

 The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profile of its trade 
receivables on an ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the reporting 
date are as follows:            
  

                   2010

RM % of total

By country:

Malaysia 28,080,825 74.5%

Denmark 2,415,954 6.4%

Japan 604,560 1.6%

Korea 1,330,745 3.5%

Singapore 3,260,816 8.6%

Thailand 1,040,104 2.8%

Other countries 966,340 2.6%

37,699,344 100.0%
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  cont’d

(a) Credit Risk  cont’d

 Financial Assets that are neither Past due nor Impaired         
      

 Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note 17.  
            

 Financial Assets that are either Past due or Impaired         
     

 Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 17.   
          

(b) Liquidity Risk   
    
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due 

to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the 
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

 At the reporting date, approximately 72% of the Group’s loans and borrowings (Note 20) will mature in less than one 
year based on the carrying amount reflected in the financial statements. 

 Analysis of Financial Instruments by Remaining Contractual Maturities      
            

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual 
undiscounted repayment obligations.          
    

2010

RM

On demand 
or within one 

year
One to five 

years Total

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables  55,041,373  -  55,041,373 

Loans and borrowings  22,410,085  8,701,658  31,111,743 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities  77,451,458  8,701,658  86,153,116 
            

(c) Interest Rate Risk    

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 

 The Group ‘s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from variable interest rate loans and borrowings.

 The Group’s policy is to manage the interest rate risk through a combination of fixed and floating rate debts depending 
on the market interest rate movements. However, the Group may consider to enter into the interest rate swaps should 
there exist any inflationary pressure on the current market interest rates. As at the reporting date, the Group do not 
engage any interest hedging instruments in respect of such interest rate fluctuations. 

 Sensitivity Analysis for Interest Rate Risk          
   

 At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 10 basis points lower/higher, with all other variables held constant, the 
Group’s profit net of tax would have been RM31,000 higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest 
expense on floating rate loans and borrowings. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity 
analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.      
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  cont’d
         
(d) Foreign Exchange Risk

 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange rates.

 The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are denominated in a currency 
other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily RM. The foreign currencies in which these 
transactions are denominated are mainly United States Dollars (“USD”) and Singapore Dollar (“SGD”). 

 The Group’s sales and cost of purchase which are denominated in foreign currencies are approximately 54.3% and 
55.5% respectively. The Group’s trade receivable and trade payable balances at the reporting date have similar 
exposures.

 
 The Group also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working capital purposes. At the 

reporting date, such foreign currency balances (mainly in USD and SGD) amount to RM2,643,832.

 Sensitivity Analysis for Foreign Currency Risk         
            

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit net of tax to a reasonably possible change in the 
USD and SGD exchange rates against the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, with all other variables 
held constant.             

2010

RM

Increase/(Decrease)

Profit net of tax

USD/RM - strengthened 3%  (556,929)

- weakened 3%  556,929 

SGD/RM - strengthened 3%  87,215 

- weakened 3%  (87,215)

29. SEGMENT INFORMATION

 Management assesses the performance of the Group as a single operating segment. For management purposes, the financial 
information provided to the chief operating decision maker comprises the consolidated statement of financial position and 
statement of comprehensive income. All asset and liabilities and income and expenses are managed on a group basis.  
           

 Management monitors operating results on a group basis for purposes of making decisions about resources allocation and 
performance assessment.           
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29. SEGMENT INFORMATION  cont’d
   
 Revenue information based on geographical locations of customers are as follows:     

         

 Group

 2010  2009 

 RM’000  RM’000 

By country:

Malaysia 140,904  123,158 

Denmark 12,010  7,821 

Japan 49,196  42,313 

Australia 16,533  13,206 

Korea 25,084  16,865 

Singapore 26,489  26,603 

Thailand 11,522  7,792 

Other countries 26,502  17,746 

 308,240  255,504 
             

 Entity Wide Disclosure           
           
-  All non-current asset of the Group are located in Malaysia.        

-  The Group does not have any customer which accounts for 10% or more of the total revenue.    
         

30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT           

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.       

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain 
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders 
or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the period ended 31 December 
2009 and 31 December 2010.           

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy 
is to keep the gearing ratio between 25% and 50%. The Group includes within net debt, loans and borrowings, trade and 
other payables, less cash and bank balances. Capital includes equity attributable to the owners of the parent.   
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30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  cont’d          
           

 2010  2009 

 RM  RM 

Loans and borrowings 31,111,743 15,140,235 

Trade and other payables 55,041,373 53,127,324 

Less: - Cash and bank balances (16,341,963) (16,294,954)

Net debt 69,811,153 51,972,605 

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 190,980,461 180,087,005 

Total capital 190,980,461 180,087,005 

Capital and debt 260,791,614 232,059,610 

Gearing ratio 27% 22%

             
31. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS           

   
(a) On 14 January 2010, Great Wall Plastic Industries Berhad (“GWPI”) announced a restricted renounceable two (2) call 

rights issue on the basis of one (1) new ordinary share of RM1.00 each (“Rights Shares”) for every ten (10) existing 
ordinary shares of RM1.00 each held in GWPI, with an initial call of a cash payment of RM1.00 for every 1,000 Rights 
Shares and the balance second call of RM999.00 for every 1,000 Rights Shares shall be capitalised from the share 
premium account of GWPI in full settlement thereof.         

 The rights issue was completed on 23 April 2010. Upon completion, the issued and paid-up share capital of GWPI was 
increased from RM80,004,000 to RM88,004,400.        

(b) GWPI had on 10 April 2010, declared a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2009, which 
comprise:-             

(i) tax exempt dividend of 17%; and         
   

(ii) 8% dividend less 25% taxation,         

 The dividend was paid to GWPI’s shareholders on 14 May 2010 based on the issued and paid-up share capital of GWPI 
of RM88,004,400.            
 

(c) (i) The Company had on 6 May 2010 entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with the shareholders 
 of GWPI for the acquisition of the entire issued and paid-up share capital comprising 88,004,400 ordinary shares 

of RM1.00 each in GWPI, for a total purchase consideration of RM136,252,000, which is to be satisfied via the 
issuance of 219,999,996 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each, at an issue price of approximately RM0.62 each.  
           

(ii) The Company had on 6 May 2010 entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with GWPI for the 
acquisition of the entire issued and paid-up share capital of GWPI’s subsidiary, GW Packaging Sdn. Bhd. (“GWP”), 
comprising 6,000,002 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in GWP, for a cash consideration of RM10,000,000, which is 
to be reflected as an amount owing from the Company to GWPI.       

The Acquisitions were completed on 11 August 2010.       
  

   
32. COMPARATIVES            

 The comparative amounts for the financial statements of the Group had been restated for the application of merger method 
of accounting, to include the financial statements of GWPI and its subsidiary that were under common control of common 
shareholders before and after the acquisition on 11 August 2010. The consolidated financial statements of the Group were 
prepared based on the respective audited financial statements of the Company, GWPI and its subsidiary for the period/year 
ended 31 December 2009. As of that date, the Group was not in existence and accordingly no audited consolidated financial 
statements were available.           
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33. DISCLOSURE OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS        

 On 25 March 2010, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (Bursa Malaysia) issued a directive to all listed issuers pursuant to 
Paragraphs 2.06 and 2.23 of Bursa Malaysia Main Market Listing Requirements. The directive requires all listed issuers to 
disclose the breakdown of the unappropriated profit or accumulated losses as at the end of the reporting period, into 
realised and unrealised profits or losses.          
         

 The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010, into realised and 
unrealised profits, pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s Directive ref: LD26/10 dated 20 December 2010 is tabulated 
below:             
              

Group Company

 RM’000  RM’000 

Total retained earnings of the Company and its subsidiaries

Realised  80,556 4,819

Unrealised  7,674  - 

 88,230 4,819

Consolidation adjustments  (5,208)  - 

 83,022 4,819
              
The determination of realised and unrealised profits is compiled based on Guidance of Special Matter No.1, Determination of 
Realised and Unrealised Profits and Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants on 20 December 2010.     

 The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits above is solely for complying with the disclosure requirements stipulated in 
the directive of Bursa Malaysia and should not be applied for any other purposes.     
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No.
Beneficial 
Owner Address

Description
/Use Tenure

Land 
Area or 
Built Up 

Area

Approximate
Age of

Building

Net Book 
Value
As At 

31/12/2010
RM

Date of 
Acquisition

1 Great Wall 
Plastic 
Industries 
Berhad

Lot 1608, Rawang 
Integrated
Industrial Park,  
Jalan Rawang
Batang Berjuntai, 
48000 Rawang,
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Factory, 
Office, 

Warehouse 
and 

Staff Quarters

Freehold 1 248 431 
sq. ft.

12 44,403,168 * 27 July 
1991

2 Great Wall 
Plastic 
Industries 
Berhad

Unit F-3/5, 5th Floor, 
Block No. F,
Phileo Damansara  
Lot 48017
Seksyen 39, 
Jalan Damansara,
Bandar Petaling Jaya, 
Selangor
Darul Ehsan

Office Freehold 2167 sq. ft. 11 481,250 28 May 
2004

* Note :  The land was acquired on 27 July 1991, and the factory building was subsequently constructed and occupied in 1998.

List of  Properties
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Class of Security : Ordinary Shares of RM0.50 each
Voting Rights :  1 vote per ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS 

Size of Holdings No. of Holders % of Holders No. of Shares % of Shares

Less than 100 6 0.44 204 *0.00

100 -1,000 281 20.66 211,700 0.09

1001-10,000 653 48.01 3,820,400 1.62

10,001-100,000 356 26.18 11,887,600 5.04

100,001– less than 5% of issued shares 60 4.41 53,598,700 22.71

5% and above of issued shares 4 0.30 166,481,396 70.54

TOTAL 1,360 100.00 236,000,000 100.00

* Negligible

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

                            Direct                             Indirect

Substantial Shareholder
No. of shares 

held %
No. of shares 

held %

Megastart Sdn. Bhd. 72,500,996 30.72 - -

Keybumi Sdn. Bhd. 60,368,400 25.58 - -

Yeoh Soo Ann 19,330,000 8.19 72,500,996(a) 30.72

Lim Kok Boon 14,282,000 6.05 72,500,996(a) 30.72

Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan 2,900,000 1.23 60,368,400(b) 25.58

Notes:
(a) Deemed Interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965  held through Megastart Sdn. Bhd.
(b)  Deemed Interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965  held through Keybumi Sdn. Bhd.

Analysis of  Shareholdings
as at 5 May 2011
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Analysis of  Shareholdings
as at 5 May 2011

cont’d

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS  IN SHARES BASED ON THE REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

(A) Interest in Shares in GW Holdings

                            Direct                              Indirect

Name
No. of shares 

held %
No. of shares 

held %

Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman 1,150,000 0.49 - -

Lim Kok Boon 14,282,000 6.05 72,500,996(a) 30.72

Yeoh Soo Ann 19,330,000 8.19 72,500,996(a) 30.72

Dato’ Chew Kong Seng  1,150,000 0.49 - -

Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan 2,900,000 1.23 60,368,400(b) 25.58

Notes: 
(a) Deemed Interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965  held through Megastart Sdn. Bhd.
(b) Deemed Interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965  held through Keybumi Sdn. Bhd.

(B) Interest in Shares in Related Corporations
 
 By virtue of Lim Kok Boon, Yeoh Soo Ann and Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan’s interests in the shares of GW Holdings, they 

are deemed to have an interest in the shares of GW Holdings’ subsidiaries to the extent that GW Holdings has an interest. 

THIRTY (30) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
         

Names No. of Shares %

1 Megastart Sdn. Bhd. 72,500,996 30.72

2 Keybumi Sdn. Bhd. 60,368,400 25.58

3 Yeoh Soo Ann 19,330,000 8.19

4 Lim Kok Boon 14,282,000 6.05

5 OSK Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Berhad
OSK Capital Sdn Bhd for Kontrak Imbangan Sdn. Bhd.

10,100,000 4.28

6 Michael Law Kiung Nguong 3,594,600 1.52

7 Abang Ariffin Bin Abang Bohan 2,900,000 1.23

8 Ching Chooi Sim 2,876,400 1.22

9 Kamlesh Kumar 2,498,800 1.06

10 Lau Kueng Suong 2,380,000 1.01

11 Kok Tiu Wan 2,366,700 1.00

12 AIBB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Tan Siew Booy (D18)

1,920,000 0.81

13 Wong Poon Kheong 1,724,600 0.73

14 Ng Choong Keen 1,499,600 0.64

15 Chua Say Sin 1,420,000 0.60

16 Chua Choon Kow 1,399,700 0.59

17 Lim Chun Yuan 1,374,700 0.58

18 Omar Bin Abdul Rahman 1,150,000 0.49

19 Chew Kong Seng @ Chew Kong Huat 1,150,000 0.49

20 Inter-Pacific Equity Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Kok Tiu Wan

1,118,700 0.48
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THIRTY (30) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS  cont’d 
        

Names No. of Shares %

21 Faridah Binti Mohd Fuad Stephens 968,700 0.41

22 Mohd Salahuddin Bin Abdul Rahman 822,000 0.35

23 RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Choong Foong Ming (Ceb)

758,000 0.32

24 PMC Global Services Sdn. Bhd. 700,000 0.30

25 Caroline Eu Gaik Suan 570,000 0.24

26 Azizi Bin Meor Ngah 500,000 0.21

27 Grace Spectrum Sdn. Bhd. 500,000 0.21

28 Md Hamzah Bin Md Kassim 500,000 0.21

29 Lim Lee Peng 490,000 0.21

30 CIMSEC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
Bank of Singapore Limited for Mighty Finance Limited

451,700 0.19

Total Shares 212,215,596 89.92

Analysis of  Shareholdings
as at 5 May 2011
cont’d
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Notice of  Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Second Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Greens II, Tropicana Golf & 
Country Resort, Jalan Kelab Tropicana, 47410 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, on Wednesday, 29 June 2011 at 10:00 a.m.

AGENDA

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 together with the 
Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM48,000/- in respect of the year ended 31 December 
2010.

3. To re-elect the following directors who retire in accordance with Article 88 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association:-

Mr Lim Kok Boon
Mr Yeoh Soo Ann
Encik Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan

4. To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions pursuant to Section 129(6) of the 
Companies Act, 1965:-

(a) “That YBhg Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman, who retires in accordance with  Section 
129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965 after having attained the age of seventy years, be and is hereby 
re-appointed as a Director of the Company to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company”;

(b) “That YBhg Dato’ Chew Kong Seng @ Chew Kong Huat, who retires in accordance with Section 
129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965 after having attained the age of seventy years, be and is hereby 
re-appointed as a Director of the Company to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company”.

5. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.  

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS:  
 To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:-

6. Authority to Allot and Issue Shares Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 

 “THAT, subject always to the Companies Act, 1965, the Articles of Association of the Company and the 
approvals of the relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are hereby 
empowered, pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, to issue shares in the Company from 
time to time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may deem fit  
provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to this resolution does not exceed ten per 
centum (10%) of the total issued share capital of the Company and that such authority shall continue in 
force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

7.  Shareholders’ Mandate for the Proposed Share Buy-Back

 “THAT, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965, the Company’s Articles of Association, 
the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and the 
approvals of any relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities, the Company be and is hereby 
authorised to purchase and/or hold as treasury shares such amount of ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in 
the Company from time to time and at any time as may be determined by the Directors of the Company 
through Bursa Securities upon such terms and conditions as the Directors may deem fit and expedient in 
the interest of the Company (“Proposed Share Buy-Back”) provided that:-

(Please refer to 
Note 1) 

Resolution 1

Resolution 2
Resolution 3
Resolution 4

Resolution 5

Resolution 6

Resolution 7

Resolution 8

Resolution 9
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Notice of  Annual General Meeting
cont’d

(a) the aggregate number of shares which may be purchased and/or held as treasury shares by the 
Company at any point of time pursuant to the Proposed Share Buy-Back shall not exceed ten per 
centum (10%) of the total issued and paid-up share capital of the Company; 

(b) the maximum amount of funds to be allocated by the Company pursuant to the Proposed Share 
Buy-Back shall not exceed the sum of the retained profits and share premium of the Company 
based on its audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2010;  

 AND THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to decide in their absolute discretion to 
either retain the ordinary shares as treasury shares to be either distributed as share dividends or resold 
on Bursa Securities or subsequently cancelled, or to cancel the shares so purchased, or a combination of 
both;  

 AND THAT the authority conferred by this resolution shall commence immediately upon the passing of 
this resolution and shall continue to be in force until:

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, at which time it shall lapse, 
unless renewed by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company in a general 
meeting; or

(ii) revoked or varied by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company in a general 
meeting; 

whichever is the earlier;

 AND THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorised to act and take all such steps and do such acts and 
things as they may deem necessary or expedient in order to implement, finalise and give full effect to the 
Proposed Share Buy-Back with full powers to assent to any conditions, modifications, variations and/or 
amendments as may be imposed by the relevant authorities.”

 
8. To transact any other business for which due notice shall have been given in accordance with the Articles 

of Association of the Company and the Companies Act, 1965.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

LEE YING FONG
Company Secretary

3  June 2011

Notes:-

1. This Agenda Item is not put forward for voting as the provisions of Section 169 of the Companies Act, 1965 do not require the Audited Financial 
Statements to be approved by shareholders. 

2. A proxy may but need not be a Member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the 
Company.

3. To be valid the form of proxy duly completed and signed  must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Unit F603, Pusat Dagangan 
Phileo Damansara 1, No. 9 Jalan 16/11, Off Jalan Damansara, 46350 Petaling Jaya, Selangor  not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the 
meeting.

4. A Member who is an Authorised Nominee may appoint one (1) proxy in respect of each Securities Account it holds with ordinary shares of the 
Company standing to the credit of the said Securities Account.

5.  A Member other than an Authorised Nominee shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting.  
Where a Member appoints two (2) proxies the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented 
by each proxy.

6. The form of proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if the appointor is a corporation, 
the form must be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or  attorney duly authorised.
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Notice of  Annual General Meeting
cont’d

Explanatory Notes on Special Business:-

(i) Ordinary Resolution 8 – Authority to Allot and Issue Shares Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 
  The ordinary resolution proposed under Item 6, is for the purpose of seeking a new general mandate and if passed, will empower the Directors of 

the Company to allot and issue new shares up to an amount not exceeding ten per centum (10%) for such purposes as the Directors in their absolute 
discretion consider to be in the interest of the Company without having to convene a general meeting. This general mandate, unless revoked or 
varied by the Company in general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. This authority will 
provide flexibility for the Directors to raise funds for new investments, working capital or such other purposes as the Directors may deem fit in the 
interest of the Company. 

(ii) Ordinary Resolution 9 – Proposed Share Buy-Back
  The ordinary resolution proposed under Item 7, if passed, will empower the Company to purchase up to ten per centum (10%) of the issued and 

paid-up share capital of the Company. This authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

 The details of the Proposed Share Buy-Back are set out in the Circular to Shareholders of the Company which is despatched with the 2010 Annual 
Report.

Statement Accompanying 
the Notice of  Annual General Meeting  

1. Directors who are standing for re-election/re-appointment at the Annual General Meeting

(a) Directors retiring in accordance with Article 88 of the Company’s Articles of Association:-

 Mr Lim Kok Boon
 Mr Yeoh Soo Ann
 Encik Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan

(b) Directors seeking re-appointment pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965:-

YBhg Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman
YBhg Dato’ Chew Kong Seng @ Chew Kong Huat

 
 Details of the above Directors are set out in the Profile of Directors on pages 9 to 11.
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I/We (full name in block capitals)                                                                                                                                                                                                            

NRIC No./Passport No./Company No.                                                                                                                                                                                         

of                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

being a Member/Members of GW PLASTICS HOLDINGS BERHAD, hereby appoint                                                                                      

NRIC No./Passport No.                                                   of                                                                                                               or failing whom,

                                                                                                           NRIC No./Passport No.                                                                                                          

of                                                                                                                                                              or failing whom THE CHAIRMAN OF THE 
MEETING as my/our proxy/proxies to vote on my/our behalf at the Second Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at  
Greens II, Tropicana Golf & Country Resort, Jalan Kelab Tropicana, 47410 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan on 29 June 2011 at 
10:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

My/Our proxy is to vote as indicated below:-

RESOLUTIONS *FOR *AGAINST

1 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM48,000/=

2 To re-elect Mr Lim Kok Boon as Director of the Company

3 To re-elect  Mr Yeoh Soo Ann as Director of the Company 

4 To re-elect  Encik Abang Ariffin bin Abang Bohan as Director of the Company

5 To re-appoint YBhg Tan Sri Datuk Dr Haji Omar bin Abdul Rahman as Director of the 
Company pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965

6 To re-appoint YBhg Dato’ Chew Kong Seng @ Chew Kong Huat as Director of the 
Company pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965

7 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company

8 To authorise Directors to allot and issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the 
Companies Act, 1965

9 To authorise the Company to purchase its own shares

*   Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided how you wish your votes to be cast.  If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy shall vote 
or abstain from voting at his/her discretion.

As witness my/our hand(s) this                                   day of                                 2011

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
               Number of Shares held                            Signature/Common Seal of Member 

                        
                   CDS Account No.

Notes:-

1. A proxy may but need not be a Member of the Company and  the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the 
Company.

2. To be valid the form of proxy duly completed and signed must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Unit F603, Pusat Dagangan  
Phileo  Damansara 1, No. 9 Jalan 16/11, Off Jalan Damansara, 46350 Petaling Jaya, Selangor, not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the 
meeting.

3. A Member who is an Authorised  Nominee may appoint one (1) proxy in respect of each Securities Account it holds with ordinary shares of the 
Company standing to the credit of the said Securities Account.

4.  A Member other than an Authorised Nominee shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting.  
Where a Member appoints two (2) proxies the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented 
by each proxy.

5. This form shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if the appointor is a corporation, this form  
must be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.
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